IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

MAY **2 2** 2012

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

GIL SANCHEZ,

Plaintiff and Respondent

VS.

VALENCIA HOLDING COMPANY, LLC,

Defendants and Appellant.

B228027

(Los Angeles County Super. Ct. No. BC433634)

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

California Court of Appeal, Second District, Division One Case No. B228027 Los Angeles Superior Court Case No. BC433634 Honorable Rex Heeseman

CALLAHAN THOMPSON SHERMAN & CAUDILL LLP

Robert W. Thompson (Bar No. 106411) Charles S. Russell (Bar No. 233912) 2601 Main Street, Suite 800 Irvine, California 92614 Telephone: (949) 261-2872 Facsimile: (949) 261-6060

INTRODUCTION

In AT&T Mobility v. Concepcion (2011) 563 U.S. ___ [131 S.Ct. 1740] (Concepcion), the United States Supreme Court struck down this Court's refusal to enforce as substantively unconscionable certain arbitration provisions excluding class action claims. It held that even if a class action waiver would be unconscionable under state law, the Federal Arbitration Act (the "FAA") preempts and requires the arbitration agreement to be enforced according to its terms. But Concepcion did more than just preempt one particular state-court unconscionability rule regarding class action waivers; rather, it generally limited the use of unconscionability to attack the parties' selected arbitration procedures. It held that the FAA bars states, under the guise of unconscionability, from negating the "parties['] discretion in designing arbitration processes . . . to allow for efficient, streamlined procedures tailored to the type of dispute." (131 S.Ct. at p. 1749.)

Thus, states cannot refuse to enforce a particular arbitration process based on a policy determination that the process is "unfair" or "harsh." *Concepcion* makes clear that states (whether by statute or judicial decision and regardless of their concerns for procedural safeguards) cannot second-guess the *process* that the parties have contractually designed for arbitration, so long as that process is rationally tailored to likely disputes.

Here, the automobile purchase contract's arbitration provision reflects the parties' contractual agreement as to the process they will employ to resolve their disputes. It is even-handed. It applies to both buyer

and dealer claims. It has a second-look mechanism with a three-member arbitration panel to review *outlier* results, for and against *both* buyers and the dealer – injunctive relief (favoring either side), \$0 and over \$100,000 awards. Typical results in car purchase disputes are going to fall within the \$0 to \$100,000 range, and thus outside the second-look clause, making the process a context-tailored one. Only by second-guessing the parties' discretion in designing the arbitral process – which *Concepcion* prohibits – can enforcement of arbitration be refused.

Nor can the arbitration provision here be deemed unconscionable even under California's standard unconscionability principles.

Unconscionability must be tethered to objective criteria, not amorphous, subjective judge-by-judge reactions to what might be overly one-sided or unduly harsh. An unconscionability determination must be based on the arbitration provision *as a whole*, not on dissecting the provision, reviewing individual clauses in isolation and only focusing on how a term might disadvantage a party in a particular situation. For there to be unconscionability, the overall balance must reflect a complete lack of *any* plausible business justification.

So examined, the provision here falls well within the ballpark of reasonable give-and-take. It is even-handed. It is well justified by the business realities of the buyer-dealer relationship and the threats posed by outlier results. That's not substantively unconscionable. Unless the rule is that consumer arbitration must be full, one-shot, arbitration of all possible issues at no expense to the consumer – a rule that *Concepcion* undoubtedly

rejects as a basis for not enforcing arbitration – then *this* arbitration provision's process must be valid. It involves *mutual* tradeoffs and a rational relationship to the nature of automobile purchases in general and to the specific transaction at issue – the purchase of a \$50,000 pre-owned luxury automobile from a family-owned dealership.

The judgment of the trial court and the Court of Appeal should be reversed with directions to compel arbitration.

But if the arbitration provision's plain language and the undisputed facts about the transaction's nature do not compel that result, then the judgment of the trial court and the Court of Appeal still must be reversed, and the matter remanded to the trial court so it can exercise – for the first time – its fact-finding and discretionary powers regarding unconscionability and severance.

ISSUES FOR REVIEW¹

- 1. Does AT&T Mobility v. Concepcion (2011) 563 U.S. ___ [131 S.Ct. 1740], constrain California courts outside of the class action waiver context in passing, under the guise of substantive unconscionability, on the procedures and processes that the parties have chosen in tailoring an arbitration provision to particular types of disputes? Must such arbitration procedures afford exact equality of procedural advantage to all parties in all cases?
- 2. Has AT&T Mobility v. Concepcion (2011) 563 U.S. ___ [131 S.Ct. 1740], displaced the bar to arbitration of statutory injunctive claims in Broughton v. Cigna Healthplans of Cal. (1999) 21 Cal.4th 1066, and Cruz v. PacifiCare Health Systems, Inc. (2003) 30 Cal.4th 303, as several federal district courts have held, or does the Broughton-Cruz bar to statutory injunctive relief arbitration retain vitality after Concepcion, as the Court of Appeal here appears to have assumed and two federal district courts have held?
- 3. Is the arbitration provision in the standard auto sales contract unconscionable, as a matter of law, (A) whenever a plaintiff claims to have not read it even though the contract, on its face, just above a signature line in all capital letters references an arbitration provision set out in a large box

¹ These issues – other than issue 5, see footnote 2 below – are taken verbatim from the Petition for Review. (California Rules of Court, rule 8.520(b)(2)(B).)

on the back of the one-page document and (B) because (1) it allows for an internal arbitral appeal process for extreme, outlier bilateral results (\$0, >\$100,000, injunctive relief), (2) requires the losing party to advance the costs of an internal arbitral appeal, and (3) excludes from arbitral issues self-help relief that, by definition, is not part of any court process?

- 4. Where the trial court has never passed on unconscionability or severability, can the appellate court determine those issues in the first instance (as in this case) or is remand to the trial court required for it to find facts and exercise its discretion in the first instance as held in *Brown v*.

 Ralphs Grocery Co. (2011) 197 Cal.App.4th 489, 504?
- 5. Whether Fisher v. DCH Temecula Imports LLC (2010) 187 Cal.App.4th 601, relied upon by the trial court, survives AT&T Mobility v. Concepcion (2011) 563 U.S. ___ [131 S.Ct. 1740]?²

² Fairly read, this is the issue raised, though not precisely formulated, in the Answer to Petition for Review, Answer at 22-23.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Complaint.

Plaintiff Gil Sanchez alleges that he bought a "certified" used Mercedes Benz for roughly \$50,000. (AA 15, 274-275; Opn. at 3-4.)³ He alleges various problems with the transaction, from representations made to fees charged to the vehicle's condition. (*Ibid.*) He filed suit alleging a class-action. (AA 1; Opn. at 5-6.) His class action claims sought redress for asserted violations in (1) failing to advise buyers that part of a down payment was being deferred, without interest, (2) failing to separately list license and registration/transfer/titling fees, (3) automatically charging a \$28 DMV electronic filing fee, and (4) charging a \$1.25 per tire new tire fee for tires that might be used tires.⁴ (AA 6-7.)

B. The Sale Contract.

In purchasing the vehicle, Sanchez executed a standard, preprinted Retail Installment Sale Contract. (AA 271-279; Opn. at 3-4.) The contract form was produced by an industry source, not the individual dealership. (Opn. at 4, fn. 2; see AA 276.) The contract is 26 inches long by a standard 8½ inches wide, printed on both sides of one piece of paper. (Opn. at 8; see

³ References are to the Appellant's Appendix in the Court of Appeal and to the Court of Appeal's modified opinion.

⁴ As unconscionability is determined at the time of contracting (Civ. Code, § 1670.5), the further specifics of plaintiff's claims are irrelevant at this juncture.

AA 272, Petn. Rev., App. C.)⁵ Statutorily required language and font size accounts for 24 inches of that length (back and front). (92 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 97 at *1 (2009); see Civ. Code, § 2982.)

Plaintiff signed the document multiple times on its front side.

(AA 276; Opn. at 8.) Above one set of signature lines (for both "buyer" and "co-buyer") is a box notice of "No Cooling-Off Period" and next to it, in all capitals, the following language acknowledging the arbitration provision:

"YOU AGREE TO THE TERMS OF THIS CONTRACT. YOU CONFIRM THAT BEFORE YOU SIGNED THIS CONTRACT, WE GAVE IT TO YOU, AND YOU WERE FREE TO TAKE IT AND REVIEW IT. YOU ACKNOWLEDGE THAT YOU HAVE READ BOTH SIDES OF THIS CONTRACT, INCLUDING THE ARBITRATION CLAUSE ON THE REVERSE SIDE, BEFORE SIGNING BELOW. YOU CONFIRM THAT YOU RECEIVED A COMPLETELY FILLED-IN COPY WHEN YOU SIGNED IT."

(AA 276; Opn. at 18.)

C. The Arbitration Provision.

The referenced arbitration provision appears on the back of the contract in a large black box. (AA 279; Opn. at 8; Petn. Rev., App. C.) The arbitration provision calls for binding arbitration before a single arbitrator

⁵ A replica copy of the form was submitted to the Court of Appeal at its request on November 16, 2011, and was also attached to the petition for review as Appendix C.

(required to be an attorney or retired judge) under the auspices of two nationally recognized organizations *or* any other organization chosen by the buyer (subject to the dealer's reasonable approval). (AA 279; Opn. at 6-7 & 8, fn. 3.) Self-help remedies and small claims actions are excluded from arbitration. (AA 279; Opn. at 7.) Class-action arbitration is waived. (*Ibid.*) The dealer is to advance up to \$2,500 of the buyer's initial arbitration fees. (*Ibid.*)

In the event of an arbitration award of (a) \$0, (b) in excess of \$100,000, or (c) for injunctive relief, the aggrieved party may obtain a second level of review in a three-person arbitration. (AA 279; Opn. at 7.) The party seeking such review is to initially bear the expense of the new arbitration round (subject to the three-person panel's ultimate allocation). (*Ibid.*)

The arbitration provision makes severable any unenforceable clause, other than the class action waiver: "[I]f any part of this Arbitration Clause, other than waivers of class action rights, is deemed or found to be unenforceable for any reason, the remainder shall remain enforceable."

(AA 279.)

D. The Motion To Compel Arbitration.

Defendant Valencia Holding Company, LLC moved to compel arbitration. (AA 238; Opn. at 6.) In opposing arbitration, plaintiff declared that he did not read the contract before signing it, that he was unaware that there was an arbitration provision on the back of the contract, and that no

one at the dealership had pointed out the arbitration provision to him. (AA 357-358; Opn. at 9.)⁶ His declaration was at odds with his signed acknowledgment in the contract itself that he had read and had an opportunity to review the contract, including the arbitration provision. (Compare *ibid*. with AA 276; Opn. at 18.)

E. The Trial Court Refuses To Compel Arbitration Because Of The Class-Action Waiver.

The trial court denied the motion to compel arbitration because of the class-action waiver provision, relying on *Fisher v. DCH Temecula Imports LLC* (2010) 187 Cal.App.4th 601, which, in turn, relied on *Discover Bank v. Superior Court* (2005) 36 Cal.4th 148 (*Discover Bank*). (Opn. at 10; AA 529-530.) The trial court did not reach unconscionability or severability. (AA 527-530; Rehearing Petn. at 10-11.)

F. The Court Of Appeal Affirms On A Different Ground: Unconscionability.

In the wake of *Concepcion*, *supra*, 131 S.Ct. 1740, which overruled *Discover Bank*, *supra*, 36 Cal.4th 148, the Court of Appeal did not address the trial court's class-action waiver ground. Instead, it affirmed on a different ground: unconscionability. (Opn. at 11.)

⁶ The trial court sustained an objection to plaintiff's declaration that he was told to "just sign here"; it overruled the remaining evidentiary objections. (See AA 454-462, 528.)

Concepcion. The Court of Appeal read Concepcion as limited to the application of the unconscionability doctrine "to class-action waivers in arbitration agreements" and to states "[r]equiring the availability of classwide arbitration" (Opn. at 12, quoting Concepcion, 131 S.Ct. at pp. 1746 & 1748, italics added by Court of Appeal.) According to the Court of Appeal, "[w]ith the exception of the Discover Bank rule, the court acknowledged in Concepcion that the doctrine of unconscionability remains a basis for invalidating arbitration provisions." (Opn. at 12.) Thus, in the Court of Appeal's view, Concepcion merely carved out one, narrow exception – class-action waivers – to states' broad unconscionability powers to refuse to enforce arbitration provisions.

The De Novo Appellate Unconscionability Determination. The Court of Appeal proceeded to analyze the arbitration agreement, de novo, for unconscionability. It held that it could "resolve [unconscionability] in the first instance, without remand to the trial court." (Opn. at 10.) It reasoned that "[w]hether an arbitration provision is unconscionable is ultimately a question of law.... On appeal, when the extrinsic evidence is undisputed, as it is here, we review the contract de novo to determine unconscionability." (Opn. at 10, internal quotation marks and citations omitted.) The Court of Appeal viewed as undisputed plaintiff's bare assertion that he had not read the contract or been aware of the arbitration provision, despite the conflicting representation in the contract itself that immediately preceded his signature. (See Rehearing Petn. at 11.)

Procedural Unconscionability. The Court of Appeal majority found procedural unconscionability as a matter of law premised upon the facts that (1) the contract was long, (2) the plaintiff claimed not to have read the agreement that he signed, and (3) the front-of-the-form, large, all-capital-letters reference to the arbitration provision (in a distinctive box on the back of the form) is to the right of the "no cooling off period" box, immediately over any co-buyer's signature. (Opn. at 15-18.)

Substantive Unconscionability. The Court of Appeal majority found the arbitration provision was overly harsh or one-sided and for that reason substantively unconscionable. Specifically, the majority found fault with clauses (1) allowing either party to request review before a three arbitrator panel if the award exceeded \$100,000, was for \$0, or included injunctive relief, (2) requiring any party so requesting to advance the initial cost of the second round without a mechanism for waiving such fees, and (3) excluding self-help remedies (in particular, repossession) from arbitration. (Opn. at 18-30.) The Court of Appeal further found the provision unconscionable in requiring arbitration of Consumers Legal Remedies Act injunctive relief claims. (Opn. at 28-30.)

Severance. Finally, the Court of Appeal majority held that it could determine de novo that the supposedly offending clauses could not be severed. It recognized that severance is within the trial court's discretion such that the appellate court "typically would remand the case to the trial court, allowing it, as a discretionary matter, to decide whether the doctrine of severability should apply." (Opn. at 32, citing Armendariz v. Foundation

Health Psychcare Services, Inc. (2000) 24 Cal.4th 83, 122, 124 (Armendariz).) Concluding that "it would be pointless to remand the case when only one outcome is proper" (Opn. at 32), the majority viewed it as impossible to strike the offending clauses in the arbitration provision. It reasoned that, to be valid, any arbitration agreement must "establish a procedure or criteria for determining how much [a consumer] can afford" before admitting even the hypothetical prospect that the consumer may bear arbitration fees. (Opn. at 31.)

The Concurring Opinion. Justice Rothschild concurred. She found procedural unconscionability, more broadly than the majority, based solely on her conclusion that the sale agreement was a contract of adhesion. (Opn., conc. opn. of Rothschild, J. at 1.) On the other hand, she limited the substantive unconscionability bases to her view that "(1) the provision making monetary awards of exactly \$0 or more than \$100,000 appealable is unfairly one-sided; and (2) the provision requiring the appealing party to advance all costs of the appeal is unfairly one-sided." (*Ibid.*)⁷

This Court granted review.

⁷ The Court of Appeal denied petitioner's rehearing petition but granted rehearing on its own motion, modifying its original opinion in multiple respects not material here.

ARGUMENT

- I. AT&T Mobility v. Concepcion (2011) 563 U.S. ___ [131
 S.Ct. 1740], Limits The Use Of Unconscionability To Bar
 Enforcement Of Arbitration Provisions.
 - A. The Federal Arbitration Act Preempts State Law Refusals

 To Enforce Arbitration Based On Findings That The

 Parties' Agreed-Upon Arbitral Process Is Inadequate.

In *Concepcion*, *supra*, 131 S.Ct.1740, the United States Supreme Court disapproved judicial vetting, under the guise of unconscionability, of the parties' agreed-upon arbitration procedures. *Concepcion* specifically disapproved *Discover Bank*, *supra*, 36 Cal.4th 148, which had held unenforceably unconscionable an arbitration provision with a class action arbitration waiver. *Concepcion* holds that even if a particular arbitral process agreed upon by the parties and reasonably tailored to the type of dispute would otherwise be unenforceable under state law – either directly by statute or indirectly through doctrines such as unconscionability – the FAA preempts and requires enforcement of the arbitration agreement according to its terms. (131 S.Ct. at pp. 1749, 1753.)

Specifically:

• "[P]arties [have] discretion in designing arbitration processes . . . to allow for efficient, streamlined procedures tailored to the type of dispute." (131 S.Ct. at p. 1749.) Courts cannot use substantive unconscionability as a mechanism to refuse to enforce arbitration provisions based on the process agreed upon by the parties. (See *id.* at p. 1747, citing

Broome, An Unconscionable Application of the Unconscionability

Doctrine: How the California Courts are Circumventing the Federal

Arbitration Act (2006) 3 Hastings Bus. L.J. 39 [arguing that California

courts have violated the FAA by historically applying heightened

unconscionability review to processes selected in arbitration provisions,

including a mutuality requirement not applied in the non-arbitration

context].)

- At a minimum, there must be a strong presumption that the particular procedures agreed to by the parties are to be honored. (See 131 S.Ct. at pp. 1748-1749.) "The 'principal purpose' of the FAA is to 'ensur[e] that private arbitration agreements are enforced according to their terms.' [Citations.]..." (Ibid., emphasis added.)
- Accordingly, "parties may agree to *limit the issues subject to* arbitration, [citation], to arbitrate according to specific rules, [citation], and to limit with whom a party will arbitrate its disputes, [citation]." (*Ibid.*, emphasis added.)
- In particular, the parties may limit the risks associated with outlier results or "high stakes" arbitral determinations. (*Id.* at p. 1748 [parties may exclude class actions from arbitration because the higher stakes involved are not appropriate for arbitration].) They may account for the fact that "[a]rbitration is poorly suited to the higher stakes . . . litigation." (*Id.* at p. 1752.)

At the same time, *Concepcion* recognized that the FAA's "saving clause permits agreements to arbitrate to be invalidated by 'generally

applicable contract defenses, such as fraud, duress, or unconscionability,'..." (*Concepcion*, *supra*, 131 S.Ct. at p. 1746, citations omitted.) And, state courts must apply the *same* unconscionability principles to arbitration provisions that they apply to all other contracts. (*Id.* at pp. 1746-1747.) Even then, though, such "defenses [may not] apply only to arbitration or ... derive their meaning from the fact that an agreement to arbitrate is at issue." (*Id.* at p. 1746.)

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