# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COURT FILED

GIL SANCHEZ, Plaintiff and Respondent,

VS.

JUL 20 2012

VALENCIA HOLDING COMPANY, LLC Defendant, Appellant, and Petitioner.

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

#### ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

California Court of Appeal, Second District, Division One Case No. B228027

Los Angeles Superior Court Case No. BC433634 Honorable Rex Heeseman

#### ROSNER, BARRY & BABBITT, LLP

Hallen D. Rosner (Bar No. 109740) Christopher P. Barry (Bar No. 179308) Angela J. Smith (Bar No. 216876) 10085 Carroll Canyon Road, Ste.100 San Diego, California 92131 (858) 348-1005

Attorneys for Plaintiff and Respondent Gil Sanchez

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

a class action under the CLRA); Sawyer v. Bill Me Later, Inc. (C.D.Cal. 2010) 2010 WL 5289537, \*6 (finding forum selection clause unenforceable where enforcement would result in an illegal waiver under the CLRA).)

Looking at the arbitration clause here, it plainly refers to class action lawsuits – "in a case which class allegations have been made." That is the situation here. (See, e.g., AA, Vol. I, Tab 2, at 00058-59, 00063-70, and 00076-78.) Because the condition precedent was present, the trial court then looked at the potential triggering event: "If a waiver of class action rights is deemed or found to be unenforceable for any reason . . . ." Notably, there is no limitation on the basis for finding the class action waiver unenforceable. The contract could have included a limitation – but it doesn't. It says "any reason." The use of the term "for any reason" is deliberately broad and must be construed as such. (City of Carlsbad v. Ins. Co. of State of Penn. (2009) 180 Cal.App.4th 176, 181 ("From the earliest days of statehood we have interpreted 'any' to be broad, general and all embracing.").)

Appellant knew how to put a more specific limitation in its arbitration clause. For example, the clause states "if federal law provides that a claim or dispute is not subject to binding arbitration, this Arbitration Clause shall not apply to such claim or dispute." (AA, Vol. I, Tab 8 at 00279.) For example, in *CompuCredit Corp. v. Greenwood* (2012) 132 S.Ct. 665, the United States Supreme Court addressed when federal

law excludes a claim from binding arbitration. For example, although Appellant, a car dealer, seeks to force its customer Mr. Sanchez into arbitration, based on an arbitration clause he didn't see and they didn't discuss, Appellant itself, as a car dealer, cannot be forced by manufacturers to arbitrate franchise disputes absent written consent after the dispute arises. (*Id.*, at 672 (citing 15 U.S.C. § 1226(a)(2).) No such similar law protects consumers from car dealers.

Appellant's "poison pill", however, uses the much broader modifier "any reason" for determining when the class action waiver is unenforceable, and Mr. Sanchez was not limited to the protections of specific federal laws prohibiting arbitration of specific claims. The term "any reason" is broad enough to include state laws applicable to class action waivers, as well as the general state and federal contract defense that private parties cannot waive unwaivable statutory rights. (*Carlsbad*, 180 Cal.App.4th at 181.)

"Under the plain meaning rule, courts give the words of the contract or statute their usual and ordinary meaning. 'We interpret the words in their ordinary sense, according to the plain meaning a layperson would attach to them.'" (*Valencia v. Smyth* (2010) 185 Cal.App.4th 153, 162 (citations omitted).) The plain meaning of "any reason," when contrasted with the more specific limitation regarding federal prohibition of the

arbitration of certain claims, is that California law can provide "a reason" the class action waiver is unenforceable.

The parties did not have to include a "poison pill" in the arbitration clause. But they did. And now Appellant is seeking to avoid a reasonable interpretation of the plain language in its own clause. While Courts do not enforce laws or rules which are inconsistent with the FAA, they are required to enforce contractual terms, even if those terms are inconsistent with the FAA. (Concepcion, 131 S.Ct. at 1753 (parties could require use of Federal Rules of Evidence in arbitration even though that is not arbitration as contemplated by the FAA); Volt, 489 U.S. at 472 (parties can agree to apply state procedural rules not required by the FAA).) The trial court relied on Fisher, which engaged in this same analysis and concluded the arbitration agreement, not state law or rules, prevented the arbitration of the claims.

The *Fisher* case is directly on point. Relying on well-established case law prohibiting the waiver of statutory rights in private contracts, including this Court's opinion in *Little v. Auto Stiegler* (2003) 29 Cal.4th 1064, the *Fisher* Court found the Legislature had prohibited any waiver of a consumer's right to bring a class action under the CLRA, regardless of where the waiver appears in the contract.<sup>5</sup> Hiding the waiver inside the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Appellant falsely claims, without citation, Fisher relied on Discover Bank. (See AOB, at 9 and 59.) Fisher discussed Discover Bank to provide a

arbitration clause did not give it a special exemption from the Legislature's reasons or reach. (*See Fisher*, 187 Cal.App.4th at 619; *accord Perry*, 482 U.S. at 492 fn. 9 (arbitration clauses must be treated the same as other contracts).) As the *Fisher* court explained,

It was DCH who chose to put the classwide arbitration and class action lawsuit waiver in the arbitration agreement and then included the "poison pill" provision that invalidated the remainder of the arbitration agreement if the classwide arbitration waiver was unenforceable. We cannot sever the offending class action waiver, as we are bound by the language of the contract.

#### (187 Cal.App.4th at 619.)

Appellant asked the trial court, asked the Court of Appeal, and now asks this Court to enforce the arbitration clause it included on the back of Mr. Sanchez's contract, all the while conveniently ignoring the plain language of the clause which actually prohibited arbitration of this dispute. *Concepcion* mandates courts read the contract and enforce the actual terms of the agreement. Here, that means this "arbitration clause shall be unenforceable." This Court, like the trial court, can engage in this process and enforce the "poison pill," without ever needing to determine whether the arbitration clause is unconscionable. Once the illegal waiver was voided, the contract itself prohibited arbitration. (*See Fisher*, 187

history of cases discussing FAA pre-emption – and to note the CLRA antiwaiver issue did not arise in *Discover Bank* and, therefore, was not discussed in *Discover Bank*. (187 Cal.App.4th at 614-15.)

Cal.App.4th at 619.) A court is bound to honor that choice. (*See ibid.*) The same is true here. Thus, the Court cannot compel arbitration of this dispute, because the parties did not agree to arbitrate this dispute.

# 1. The FAA Allows Parties To Agree To Eliminate FAA Pre-Emption

Arbitration agreements are just contracts. Courts are required to enforce arbitration clauses as written, applying ordinary contract rules. The purpose of the FAA "is to ensure the enforcement of arbitration agreements according to their terms . . . ." (Concepcion, 131 S.Ct. at 1748 (emphasis added).) Indeed, the FAA places such importance on the parties' freedom of contract the Supreme Court has held it allows the parties to eliminate FAA pre-emption from their contract by stating they want state law to apply. (Volt, 489 U.S. at 472.) That is what the RISC here does, stating California law applies to it. (AA, Vol. I, Tab 8, at 00277 (Section 6 of the RISC entitled "Applicable Law").)<sup>6</sup> Because the parties specifically chose to have California law apply, the FAA cannot pre-empt the application of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Section 6 of the contract sets out the law governing the *entire agreement*. The arbitration clause also states "[a]ny arbitration . . . shall be governed by the FAA." This means the *arbitration proceeding* shall be governed by the FAA's procedures, rather than the California Arbitration Act's procedures. This Court has limited this very wording to the arbitration proceeding only and held it is not to be interpreted broadly to affect other issues. (*Cable Connection, Inc. v. DIRECTV, Inc.* (2008) 44 Cal.4th 1334, 1350, fn. 12.)

California law to this contract and the "poison pill." (*Volt*, 489 U.S. at 472.) This is especially true where the parties then agreed if the class action waiver is found unenforceable for "any" reason — which includes application of the California law governing the contract — there will be no arbitration. The parties chose to have this law apply, which overrides any otherwise applicable FAA pre-emption. (*See ibid.*)

## 2. The FAA Does Not Make Illegal Contract Terms Enforceable

Moreover, even if the contract hadn't already said California law applies, the FAA would not pre-empt the neutral state law at issue here. The FAA does not contain an express pre-emption provision. 489 U.S. at 477.) Instead, it impliedly pre-empts "defenses that apply only to arbitration or that derive their meaning from the fact that an agreement to arbitrate is at issue." (Concepcion, 131 S. Ct. at 1746.) All other general contractual defenses still apply. (Doctor's Associates v. Casarotto (1996) 517 U.S. 681, 687; 9 U.S.C. § 2.) The FAA only makes contractual terms to arbitrate equal to other contractual terms; it does not give them a special status or exemption from otherwise applicable contract rules. (Prima Paint v. Flood & Conklin Mfg. (1967) 388 U.S. 395, 404 fn. 12 ("the purpose of Congress in 1925 was to make arbitration agreements as enforceable as other contracts, but not more so") (emphasis added); accord Volt, 489 U.S. at 478.)

The defense at issue here that triggered the "poison pill" – voiding contract terms in violation of statutory law – applies equally to all contracts. It does not single out arbitration clauses. Indeed, here, it is being applied to the same type of class action waiver term which courts have found in violation of the CLRA – and therefore invalid – in cases not involving arbitration. (*See, e.g., Doe 1,* 552 F.3d at 1084; *Sawyer,* 2010 WL 5289537, at \*6.) If the waiver was illegal in those non-arbitration contracts, the Supreme Court and the FAA require the same conclusion here.

Moreover, the CLRA never mentions arbitration, let alone singles it out for unfavorable treatment. The only reason arbitration is an issue is because Appellant chose to condition the enforceability of the arbitration clause on the validity of the waiver of Mr. Sanchez's rights under the CLRA. Inserting a waiver of statutory rights into an arbitration clause does not somehow exempt the waiver from the law applicable to all other contracts though. Thus, not surprisingly, the Courts of Appeal have held illegal waivers of statutory rights remain illegal, even when in arbitration clauses. (*Brown v. Ralphs Grocery* (2011) 197 Cal.App.4th 489, 500, 502–503, *cert. denied* 132 S.Ct. 1910 (*Concepcion* "does not provide that a public right ... can be waived if such a waiver is contrary to state law"); *Hoover v. Am. Income Life Ins.* (2012) 206 Cal.App.4th 1193, 142 Cal.Rptr.3d 312, 316 fn. 2.)

Indeed, as discussed above, the contract itself recognizes the class action waiver will be unenforceable in some cases and, therefore, provides for situations like this one. It clearly states there will be no arbitration in cases (like this one) where the right to a class action is not waivable under ordinary contract law. The clause prohibits class arbitration, *not class litigation!* Enforcing the express contractual terms here means voiding the arbitration clause. (*Fisher*, 187 Cal.App.4th at 619.)

#### C. Appellant's Arbitration Clause Is Unconscionable As A Matter Of Law.

The Court of Appeal in this case described the "general principles of unconscionability." (Sanchez, 135 Cal.Rptr.3d at 28.) The Court of Appeal cited Concepcion for the standard that "the doctrine of unconscionability remains a basis for invalidating arbitration provisions . . . ." (Id., at 29.) Next, the Court of Appeal concluded "Concepcion is inapplicable where, as here, we are not addressing the enforceability of a class action waiver or a judicially imposed procedure that is inconsistent with the arbitration provision and the purposes of the Federal Arbitration Act." (Id.) Finally, the Court of Appeal reiterated that "the unconscionability principles on which we rely govern all contracts, are not unique to arbitration agreements, and do not disfavor arbitration." (Ibid. (italics in original); see also Iskanian v. CLS Transp. Los Angeles, LLC (2012) 206 Cal.App.4th 949, 961 n.4 (noting Court of Appeal in this case "held that an arbitration

provision was unconscionable for reasons that would apply to any contract in general.").)

The explanation and analysis provided by the Court of Appeal is consistent with the Supreme Court's opinion in *Concepcion*. It treats the arbitration clause on the back of Mr. Sanchez's contract the same as any other contractual clause to determine whether it was unconscionable. There are still limits to what can be put in a contract, and the Court of Appeal's decision merely places those same limits on this arbitration clause such that it is placed on "equal footing" with other contracts.

A blog by defense attorneys criticizing the Court of Appeal's analysis in this case does not change the truth of the matter is the Court of Appeal examined a poorly-written, one-sided arbitration clause, and found it unconscionable under the general contract defense of unconscionability. It was a far cry from the consumer-friendly arbitration clause drafted by AT&T that was at issue in Concepcion. (Concepcion, 131 S.Ct. at 1744 ("the arbitration agreement provides that AT&T will pay claimants a minimum of \$7,500 and twice their attorney's fees if they obtain an arbitration award greater than AT&T's last settlement offer").) The unconscionability analysis engaged in by the Court of Appeal in this case was the same analysis engaged in by other appellate panels in recent cases addressing other, non-arbitration contractual clauses for unconscionability. (DeLeon v. Verizon Wireless, LLC (Jul. 10, 2012)

Cal.App.4th \_\_\_, 2012 WL 2765812 (applying *Armendariz* test to terms of employment agreement); *Lona*, 202 Cal.App.4th at 107-112 (pricing terms of a mortgage); *Lanigan*, 199 Cal.App.4th at 1035-37 (settlement agreement).)

The Court of Appeal's opinion does not result in arbitration inconsistent with the terms of the arbitration clause or the purposes of the FAA. Rather, the opinion results in no arbitration because the terms were too one-sided, just like the Sixth District held a valid loan agreement was not reached where the terms were too one-sided. (See Lona, 202 Cal.App.4th at 111.) The Court of Appeal in this case, the DeLeon court, and the Lona court all applied the same unconscionability test, and none of them ignored Concepcion. Unconscionability remains a general contract defense which is being applied in a consistent manner by the Courts of Appeal in California. Consistent with the application of the defense of unconscionability by the Courts of Appeal in arbitration and non-arbitration clauses, the clause at issue here is unconscionable and unenforceable. And that should be the end of the story.

Contrary to Appellant's claim, this case does not "directly conflict" with the opinion in *Arguelles-Romero v. Superior Court* (2010) 184 Cal.App.4th 825 (which was cited by the Court of Appeal in this case – *see* 135 Cal.Rptr.3d at 39). In *Arguelles-Romero*, the consumer sought "to establish substantive unconscionability under the spirit, if not the precise

analysis, of *Discover Bank*." (*Id.*, at 844.) To that end, the Court of Appeal concluded "plaintiffs have not established the prerequisite to their theory of substantive unconscionability--that the claims are so small that a class action is the only viable means of enforcement." (*Id.*) In a footnote, the *Arguelles-Romero* court then noted the plaintiffs made an argument in their **reply** brief the arbitration clause is not bilateral. (*Id.*, at 845, n. 21.) The sole argument made by the plaintiffs was that if they were sued for a post-repossession deficiency, they could not compel arbitration. (*Id.*) The *Arguelles-Romero* court rejected that argument because the arbitration clause said either side could initiate an arbitration. (*Id.*)

The limited determination in *Arguelles-Romero*, that the arbitration clause permitted either side to initiate arbitration, is not in conflict with the Court of Appeal's decision in this case. This Court of Appeal did not conclude this clause was unconscionable because only one side could initiate arbitration. Rather, this decision was based, in part, because the clause excludes the dealer's primary claims from the arbitration process while forcing the consumer to arbitrate their claims. (*Sanchez*, 135 Cal.Rptr.3d at 38-40.) This issue was not presented to, nor decided by, the *Arguelles-Romero* court. Nor were any of the other three reasons relied upon by the Court of Appeal here raised in *Arguelles-Romero* for consideration.

This particular contractual clause is indeed unconscionable under the general contract defense of unconscionability set out in Civil Code Section 1670.5:

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